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EDINBURGH DURING THE PREHISTORIC ERA


The Palaeolithic Period


Palaeolithic man lived during the Ice Age. There is no evidence of people inhabiting Scotland at this time, but they may have moved north during the warmer interglacial periods. Subsequent ice sheets would have removed any fragile evidence of their presence, but the most northerly remains of Palaeolithic man are the skull and bones of a woman found in Upper Teasdale. The last major ice sheets began their retreat before 8,000 BC and temperatures rose. The land around Edinburgh would have resembled the tundra; freezing cold with permafrost restricting any settlement, few trees and a short growing season.


The Mesolithic Age


From about 8,000 BC temperatures began to rise and Britain entered the period called the Mesolithic (or Old Stone Age). The people inhabiting the country at this time were hunter-gatherers with no permanent homes, although work done at Star Carr in East Yorkshire suggests that this area might have contained a settlement occupied over a long period of time.


Edinburgh contained large bodies of fresh water as well as easy access to the sea, so fish, shellfish and wildfowl offered a varied diet. Hunters used small stone tools called microliths which would be attached to wood to make spears and arrows. Elk and aurochs (large wild cattle) shared the land with red deer, while bears and wolves were not just dangers to these animals but also to the Mesolithic hunters.


Mesolithic Visitors to Edinburgh


A group of Mesolithic people began to work their way north along the edge of the northern sea until their progress was halted by a wide saltwater estuary. They worked their way along its southern shore until they found a stream of fresh water at what is today Cramond. This is the earliest encampment known from this era in Scotland. Burnt hazelnuts and a few microliths indicated that a settlement, however brief, had existed by the shore at the mouth of the Almond as long ago as 8,000 BC. At this time, sea levels were much lower and the wide Firth of Forth may have been little more than a large river.


Trees were slowly beginning to colonise Scotland, but the melted ice may have provided large areas of marsh. A land bridge still stretched from south-east England to the Continent. This disappeared around 5,800 BC and the North Sea was a gulf open only to the north and sheltered from the prevailing west winds by northern Britain. Early man would have used this coastal highway to enter the north and exploit the resources they found here.


A few clipped microliths have been found in excavations at Kaimes Hill near Balerno, but such stone tools can only be dated to the period by their shape. Most of the tools used by Mesolithic man would have been made of more perishable materials, leaving no evidence of their presence.


Tsunami


About 8,000 years ago, an undersea landslip off the Norwegian coast triggered a tsunami. A huge wave (or waves) spread south, striking the east coast of northern Britain. At this time, the sea only extended south as far as Lincolnshire. The land bridge to Europe, which we call Doggerland, still linked Britain with the continental mainland. Those living by the coast faced losing everything as no warning could have alerted them to the coming disaster. However, those on the high ground, now at the heart of modern Edinburgh, would have been beyond the reach of the tsunami.


The Neolithic Revolution


During the Neolithic period man began to take control of his environment. Trees were cut down and the land turned over to the growing of crops such as wheat and barley, and animals – cattle, sheep and pigs – were starting to be domesticated. Wood, bone and antlers provided tools for these early farmers, and stone axes, some of which have survived, were probably their most prized possessions.


This cultivation led to the development of small permanent settlements. However, it appears that Neolithic people did not live in isolated pockets of the country. The monumental circles built during this era would have required more manpower than could be provided by a few small villages, and axes mined from rock in various parts of the land have been found far from their points of origin. In Scotland, Neolithic people built the tomb chamber of Maes Howe and raised the Ring of Brodger and the Stones of Callainish. Stonehenge, the Avebury Ring and Sudbury Hill all date from this era, suggesting that Neolithic communities had some kind of central authority who could organise large work parties.


Edinburgh in the Neolithic Age


The low land in the west of Edinburgh was covered by two large freshwater lochs, known later as Corstorphine and Gogar Lochs. John Laurie’s map of 1766 still shows the remains of one of these lochs to the west of Corstorphine. Fish and waterfowl would have supplemented the diet of our early ancestors.


To the east of the city lie Duddingston and Dunsapie Lochs, which may have covered a greater area than they do today. Close by, terraces designed to cultivate the higher (drier) ground can still be seen on the slopes of Arthur’s Seat. However, a date cannot be placed on their origins. They may have been constructed by later Iron Age farmers who built settlements on the high ground in the area.


Neolithic people had few personal possessions and most of the remains of their settlements are found in the more remote parts of the country. The distribution of these artefacts may relate more to later disturbances by ploughing and construction than the density of their population. Orkney possesses many fine archaeological sites dating from this period of history.


The Bronze Age


Bronze, an alloy consisting of approximately 90 per cent copper and 10 per cent tin, proved superior to stone and during the second millennium BC, bronze technology was used to produce axes, swords and spearheads. Although both copper and tin were found in Britain and Ireland, the sources of these metal ores were considerable distances apart, and this must have stimulated trade. The Great Orme in Llandudno, North Wales, has the largest known prehistoric copper mine and the tin resources of Cornwall have been exploited from these times right up to the twentieth century.


Stone, bones and antlers still provided Bronze Age man with many of his tools, and the extraction of copper from the Great Orme was carried out using stone tools. Bronze, judging from the remains of artefacts found all over Britain, was chiefly used to make weapons and objects of high status. Often the remains of these bronze objects are found in close proximity, leading them to be designated as ‘hoards’.


The Duddingston Hoard


In 1778 a large hoard of Bronze Age metal objects was discovered in the bed of Duddingston Loch. The bulk of this consisted of the remains of thirty-two swords and fourteen spearheads. Other objects removed from the site were a rapier (a narrow sword), a dagger and a ring from a cauldron. J. Graham Callander, director of the National Museum of Antiquities, wrote in his article in Proceedings of the Society of Antiquarians of Scotland 1921–22, ‘I think the hoard is rather a founder’s stock of weapons collected and broken up for the purposes of recasting’. A later theory suggests that these deposits were religious offerings deliberately placed by their owners as gifts to the gods. Some of this hoard can be seen in the National Museum of Scotland.


Other Bronze Age Remains


Another hoard was discovered in 1869, during the excavation of a house in Grosvenor Crescent. Although not as large as the Duddingston discovery, it consisted of fourteen swords, a socket axe and part of a bronze pin. Five socket axes were also found at Bells Mills in the Dean Village, by the Water of Leith. The remains of Bronze Age swords, socket axes and spearheads have also been found on Arthur’s Seat, in Murrayfield, at Gogar House and in other parts of the city.


Evidence of settlement is harder to find. Excavations in Edinburgh Castle from 1988–91 revealed the remains of hearths and the charcoal from these was radiocarbon dated to between 972 and 830 BC. This would place the settlement at the very end of the Bronze Age in Scotland.


The Iron Age


The development of iron tools began in Britain towards the end of the second millennium BC, although dates can never be precise at such distance times. Iron had major advantages over bronze; it was a harder substance and was plentiful in Britain. Unlike bronze, which was a mixture of copper and tin, iron could be sourced from a single site.


The people of the Iron Age continued to farm the land using the same methods as their predecessors. They lived in large roundhouses which could accommodate extended families and possibly even some livestock.


The Hill Fort


These high fortified sites are common in the north and west of Britain. This should not be surprising, since this part of Britain contains most of the upland areas on the island. The presence of such fortifications has led some historians to conclude that the Iron Age was a time of increased warfare; others have argued that the forts offered more than a protected site and may have been symbolic – ‘Look at us, we are here!’ Could they have been centres of trade or religious worship?


Despite two millennia of destruction, there are still plenty of Iron Age sites in and around Edinburgh. A chain of hill forts from the late Iron Age stretched across the Lothians. The chief of these was Traprain Law. Excavations here during the early 1920s unearthed many pieces of Roman silver which are now displayed in the National Museum of Scotland in Chambers Street.


One of the largest forts in the Lothians stood on Kaimes Hill, just to the west of Balerno, with an outlying fort on neighbouring Dalmahoy Hill. Excavations on these two sites have discovered hut circles (the remains of prehistoric roundhouses) and ramparts dating from the last millennium BC. Kaimes had a well-defended entrance which included chevaux de frise – stones placed close to the entrance to obstruct an attack made by chariots or cavalry.


Work at Edinburgh Castle has uncovered evidence of settlement there during the Iron Age, but the limited area available for excavation and the succession of later buildings has restricted our knowledge of the inhabitants of the rock. Across the valley, on Arthur’s Seat, the remains of four forts or defended farmsteads have been found. Much of the low land in central Edinburgh may have suffered from flooding and thus Iron Age farmers would have preferred to live on the higher, drier ground.


The hill forts suggest that the people here were ruled by an elite, possibly based on military power. They spoke a form of Old Welsh rather than the Gaelic of the inhabitants of Ireland.


Homes


The roundhouses, with their low walls which were constructed from various materials, and their high conical roofs, provided homes large enough for extended families. Some of them could be 8–12m in diameter. These homes can be found within the hill forts, or as independent settlements probably guarded by a ditch and a fence.


Local cattle rustlers were not the only problem facing these early farmers. Wolves and bears still shared the land with Iron Age people, although little is known of their numbers or the threat they might have presented to the inhabitants living in the first millennium BC.


Dry summers and aerial photography have enabled archaeologists to locate many more Iron Age homesteads (roundhouses) in Britain. Over thirty such sites have been found close to Traprain Law. However, this cannot be taken as showing a high density of settlement as not all of them would have been occupied at the same time.


The Scottish Iron Age stretched from around 900 BC until the fifth century AD.
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THE FIRST MILLENNIUM


The First Century


The Roman occupation of southern Britain began in AD 43 with the arrival of a large invasion force. When Vespasian became emperor, he appointed one of his supporters, Julius Agricola, to the post of governor. Agricola had served in Britain before, so the problems facing the Romans were not new to him.


Agricola launched an attack into Scotland. The Votadini, the Roman name for the people who lived around Edinburgh and in the Lothians, appear to have offered no resistance as Agricola led his troops through central Scotland to the Tay around AD 81.


The army, we are told by Tacitus, was supported by a fleet which searched for suitable harbours to land marines in support of the army. So, Roman ships might have been operating in the Firth of Forth at this time. However, there is no evidence in either Edinburgh or the surrounding territory of any military settlement.


Eventually, problems on the Danube forced the Romans to reduce their military commitment in Britain.


The Fort at Cramond


In AD 142 the Roman Army, under the orders of the Emperor Antonius Pius, established a new frontier between the Forth and the Clyde. To support this new project, the Romans built forts close to the mouths of the Almond and the Esk. However, no fort was built at the mouth of the larger Water of Leith; sandbanks may have made the estuary difficult to navigate even for the small vessels of the time.


The fort at Cramond stood on the high ground near the mouth of the river. Today, most of its foundations lie beneath the church and its cemetery. Much of the fort has been destroyed by later developments over many centuries. Cramond was garrisoned by auxiliary soldiers who would have been responsible for the route along the south of the Forth, linking the fort with Carriden at the eastern end of the Antoine Wall. Cramond appears to have been a supply depot for troops based on the wall.


The Romans abandoned both the fort at Cramond and the wall around AD 164, but Emperor Septimus Severus reoccupied it at the beginning of the third century. His expedition against the tribes of the north ended with his death. The Romans then withdrew behind Hadrian’s Wall.


The Independent British Kingdoms


The lands between the two walls were inhabited by Britons who were linguistically (speaking a type of Welsh) and culturally related to those tribes living in Roman Britain. The western lands formed the Kingdom of Strathclyde, with its capital on Dumbarton Rock. In the east, the land was ruled by the Gododdin (known to the Romans as the Votadini) whose first capital stood on Traprain Law. Later they established their centre of power at the fortress of Din Edin which is generally interpreted as Castle Rock in Edinburgh.


The poet Aneirin, mourning the last days of the Gododdin, proclaims:




O woe to us from


grief, from unending sadness,


for the good men who


came from Dunedin,


the chosen men who came from


every wise land.





The Gododdin occupied a series of hill forts on the high ground looking across the Forth. Kaimes Hill (near Balerno) was a large Iron Age fort which was still occupied during these years.


Nothing is known about life in Edinburgh during the third and fourth centuries. Across the broad estuary of the Forth lay the Pictish kingdoms, while to the south was the military power of Rome. It is likely that traders from both north and south would visit the settlements around Edinburgh.


Piracy in the Fourth Century


However, times were changing. Internal battles for control and pressures from the tribes along the Danube were sucking dry the resources of the Roman Empire. Lacking an adequate navy to retaliate against raiders the Romans were reduced to building a series of coastal forts. The Scots from Ireland, the Picts from the north and various tribes from Europe took the opportunity to loot the rich coastal lands of southern Britain. What part the Gododdin played in these ventures we do not know.


Religious Beliefs in the Fourth and Fifth Centuries


Celtic religious beliefs lingered on in Roman Britain. The Romans generally tolerated the religious beliefs of conquered people, providing they did not oppose their control of the province. North of Hadrian’s Wall, Roman gods had no influence. Little is known about the religious practices of the Britons, but much of it was based on the earth, sky and seasons. Some of their festivals, like Beltane (1 May), Samhain (Halloween) and Yule are still remembered today. Plants such as oak, yew and mistletoe were sacred to their worshippers. The religious elite of the Britons during the conquest had represented a real threat to the Romans.


The fourth century saw massive changes in the Roman Empire. The wife of Constantius, the new governor, was a Christian convert who would have encouraged her fellow Christians. Her son, Constantine, became Roman Emperor and made Christianity the official religion of the Empire. A cemetery, discovered at Edinburgh’s airport, contained some fifty burials. The report, in the Proceedings of the Society of Antiquarians of Scotland 1977, on the excavations pointed out:




The cemetery consisted of long stone cists assumed to have contained skeletons laid on their backs and, with only a few exceptions, oriented east to west with the heads at the west end.





Pagan burials were placed on a north–south alignment, so these must have been Christians. Radiocarbon tests dated the remains to the early fifth century. Christianity, therefore, may have arrived in Edinburgh from the south as early as the fourth century.


Aneirin, in his poem, lamented the last days of the Gododdin at the end of the sixth century:




The beloved prince Caredig


He’d keep his battle-station like a man


Despite pain, despite the grief of earth,


Purposefully he defended his post –


May he be welcomed in Communion


To perfect union with the Trinity.





However, most of the poem shows the Gododdin and their allies as fierce warlords high on drink as they launched a suicidal attack on the Angles. Binge drinking, it seems, is not a modern invention!


Political Divisions in the Fifth Century


To gain any understanding of the political divisions in the fifth century we must forget the modern borders which separate Scotland and England. The British kingdoms stretched from the Channel all the way to central Scotland. The southern shore of the Firth of Forth and, in the west, the north bank of the Clyde, formed the northern frontier. Beyond this, the land was ruled by the Picts. Thus Edinburgh, instead of being at the heart of the country, was part of the northern frontier.


During this century, the British people who lived in the south were being pressed by invaders (settlers) from the Continent. However, none of these tribes (Angles, Saxons and Jutes) are recorded as entering northern waters. It was a slow process. The Anglo-Saxon Chronicle records an attack on Portsmouth at the beginning of the sixth century, but by this time much of the south-east was ruled by Angle or Saxon chieftains.


In the north, the main enemy were the Scots, who had sailed across the sea from Ireland. Around AD 430, Cunedda and an army from Gododdin marched from central Scotland into North Wales to prevent the Scots from gaining a foothold on the coast. Such a move suggests that the Britons still possessed some central power which was organising the free movement of troops. This was also the time when the old Iron Age hillforts like Traprain and Kaimes were abandoned. The capital then moved to Edin or, as we know it today, Edinburgh.


Life in the Fifth Century


The land was ruled by a chieftain, or king, who was supported by a warrior elite. According to Aneirin:




It was usual


for powerful men to defend Gododdin in battle riding


Quick horses





The farmers, however, used oxen to plough the fields, although much of this work may still have been done by hand. For the ordinary people, life would have been hard. They would have been at the mercy of the well-armed men who provided the king’s bodyguard. Their diet was based on grain (barley and oats) which would be converted into soup, bread and beer, while hunting and gathering still supplemented their food stock.


To the west of Edinburgh lay the two large lochs of Corstorphine and Gogar. No doubt much of the land next to these bodies of water was covered in marsh. The area may have been rich in fish and wildfowl. Shellfish would have been picked up at low tide on the shores of the Forth and even in the middle of the nineteenth century, oyster beds could still be found in the Firth. To the east, around Arthur’s Seat, the lochs would have been more extensive than they are today.


Slavery had been common in prehistoric and Roman times, but the Christian Church had set about abolishing it. By the end of the century, Christianity had penetrated the northern British kingdoms and, no doubt, led to conflict between the Pagans and the Christians.


The Sixth Century


Plague


By the beginning of the sixth century, any central authority among the Britons had disappeared. Most of the south-east of the island was now occupied by migrants (mainly Angles, Saxons and Jutes), although the British kingdoms appear to have controlled much of the north and west. In fact, under strong leadership they were able to launch a counter-attack. This is the age in which the legendary hero, Arthur, may have lived. Nennius claims that the king defeated the Saxons in many battles, ‘The eleventh [battle] was at the mountain which is called Agned’. However, it is difficult to understand how he could have fought the Saxons around Edinburgh, since there are no records of any Saxons living in these northern lands.


The plague appeared in the East during the early 540s and spread slowly across the Mediterranean lands of the old Roman Empire. After that, the infection entered Gaul (France) before reaching the shores of Britain around AD 550. It struck the Britons severely, even killing the King of Gwynedd. Edinburgh was at this point populated by Britons and they too may have suffered severe losses.


The English invaders, however, appear to have been immune to the plague. This could have been because there was little social contact between the two groups. Bede criticises the British Christians for their failure to send missionaries to the Saxons. Not until the seventh century are there any records of alliances made between the Britons and the Angles. Then, Penda of Mercia allied himself with the kings of Gwynedd to destroy Northumbria.


The End of British Rule


Throughout the sixth century, the fortress on the Castle Rock was still ruled by the kings of the Gododdin, but events began to change rapidly. The Angles had already established themselves in York and in AD 547 a group of warriors led by Ida occupied the great crag at Bamburgh. These new invaders threatened the British kingdoms of the Gododdin, Strathclyde and Rheged (Cumbria).


Two attacks were launched by the Britons against the Angles, but it is impossible to connect them. Urien of Rheged, Rhydderch of Strathclyde and their allies besieged Bamburgh, but disaster struck when Urien was killed by one of his British allies.


The Gododdin and their British allies met in Edinburgh and prepared (by drinking large quantities of mead) to attack, not the Bernician Angles in Bamburgh, but the Deirans based in York. It is possible that they marched south through Cumbria (Rheged) and crossed the Pennines over Stainmore hoping to surprise the Angles. This surprise attack did not succeed, for they were trapped at Catterick and massacred.


The loss of the king and his chieftains left Edinburgh and the surrounding country undefended. The potential beneficiaries were the Scots and the Angles (English). Around AD 603, Ethelfrid of Northumbria defeated the Scots at Degsastan, leaving Edinburgh facing an attack from the Northumbrians. However, the attack never came. A civil war between the Bernician and Deiran Angles may have delayed matters, but sometime after AD 630 the Angles occupied the city and established their headquarters on Castle Rock.


The Angles in Edinburgh


King Edwin was converted by Roman missionaries. A bishopric was established for a few years at Abercorn, to the west of Edinburgh. The growing power of the Northumbrians finally led to an alliance between Cadwalla, the British King of Gwenedd (probably North Wales, Cheshire and southern Lancashire), and Penda, the Anglian Prince of Mercia (the English Midlands). Edwin and most of his leading chieftains were killed at the Battle of Heathfield in October 633, according to Bede.


The death of Edwin led to the return of the sons of Ethelfrid. They had been living in exile with the Scots and the Picts, where they were converted to Christianity. The Christians of the north owed their allegiance to Iona (founded by St Columba), and St Aiden arrived from that abbey at the invitation of St Oswald, King of Northumbria. The new Celtic Church set up its headquarters on the island of Lindisfarne, near Oswald’s stronghold of Bamburgh.


The Christians in Edinburgh would have had to follow the traditions of the Celtic Church. However, King Oswy, Oswald’s brother and successor, found it impossible to live with two Christian Churches in his kingdom and, after a conference, decided to recognise the authority of Rome. Thus the Church in Edinburgh also came under the authority of the papacy and this would continue for the next 900 years.


The Angles (and their Saxon contemporaries) built in wood, so there are few remains of their villages. Two small trenches opened in the Grassmarket revealed some evidence of an Anglian settlement beneath the Castle Rock. At Ratho, on the western edge of the city, a grubenhaus (sunken house) was found. It contained a clay loom weight, suggesting it might have been used for weaving.


The End of the Kingdom of Northumbria


The Anglian Kingdom fell into a rapid decline during the second half of the eighth century. According to the Scottish historian John of Forden, six Northumbrian kings were murdered in these times while three others were forced to abdicate. Two more chose a safer route by retiring into a monastery.


The Anglo-Saxon Chronicle reported for the year 793:




In this year terrible portents appeared over Northumbria and miserably frightened the inhabitants: there were exceptional flashes of lightning and fiery dragons were seen flying in the air. A great famine soon followed these signs; and a little later after that in the same year … the harrying of the heathen miserably destroyed God’s church in Lindisfarne by rapine and slaughter.





The Vikings had arrived.


The Vikings


Various names are given to these invaders from Scandinavia – Norse, Northmen, Danes and Vikings. The first assaults on these islands were probably motivated by a search for loot, and soon the Danes created a military force which destroyed the Angle and Saxon kingdoms in the south. Only Wessex (land of the West Saxons) offered sufficient resistance to survive. In the north, the Scots and the Picts united under the Scottish king, Fergus McAlpine. The new kingdom fought the Viking invaders, but large territories in the north and the Western Isles fell to the Northmen.


As the ninth century drew on, the raiders became more organised. Finally, a large army, known as ‘the Host’, took York in March 867, killing many of Northumbria’s leaders. However, Bernicia and its northern stronghold of Edinburgh remained under the control of the Angles. Seven years later, Halfdan led an army of Viking warriors across the Tyne and launched attacks on the Picts and Britons of Strathclyde. Edinburgh may well have been captured by the Vikings at this time, but no evidence is available to prove this.


In the early years of the tenth century, three Viking brothers, Ragnall, Sitric and Godred, took control of Bernicia. In AD 915 Ealdred, called the ‘son of Eadulf of Bamburgh’, fled to the court of the Scottish king, Constantine. The Northumbrian Angles were defeated in battle with the Vikings the following year. Constantine had launched raids deep into the Viking-controlled lands (Dunbar and Melrose were even attacked), but in 918 he was defeated in a battle with Ragnall. The Battle of the Tyne Hills must have secured Viking power in Edinburgh and the Lothians.


The English in the North


In 934 Athelstan brought his army north supported by a fleet of ships. It is possible that Edinburgh might have been occupied by the forces of the English king. The land of the Scots (north of the Forth) was attacked. The power of the English king now reached the central belt of modern Scotland. Finally, in 937, Athelstan won a stunning victory at Brunanburh (site unknown) over the Scots and their allies.


Despite their victories, Edinburgh remained the northern fortress of the kingdom, although further pressure from the Danes led to the town being abandoned. Thus, during the reign of Idulb (954–962), the Scots occupied Edinburgh.


The Church in Edinburgh


By AD 854, according to Simon of Durham, Edinburgh had its own parish church. We cannot be sure of its dedication (to St Giles) or its position in the Anglian settlement.


An excavation in the early years of the twentieth century revealed the foundations of a small building below the medieval choir of the abbey church at Holyrood. These walls were aligned on a slightly different orientation than the later church, leading the archaeologists to conclude that this appeared ‘to indicate the prior existence of a still earlier church’. David I’s twelfth-century abbey may have been constructed on a site which already had religious connections.
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THE HOUSE OF CANMORE


Malcolm and Margaret


Malcolm Canmore, the son of Duncan I, became King of Scots with the military support of Siward, the Earl of Northumbria. His father had been defeated and killed by Macbeth whose wife, Grouch, was a member of the Scottish royal family. Until 1100 it was the custom in Scotland for the throne to pass to a brother rather than the eldest son. After Duncan’s death Malcolm lived in exile in northern England.


Following the Norman Conquest, a small group of refugees arrived in the Forth and among them were Edgar Atheling and his sister, Margaret. They were the grandchildren of Edmund Ironside, the last Saxon King of England. Malcolm, who was then a widower, married Margaret, and she spent much of her time trying to bring the Church in Scotland into line with the mainstream western Church.


The queen was a supporter of the revived monastic movement which was sweeping across Europe and she wished to develop the abbeys at Dunfermline and St Andrew’s. A ferry, later known as the Queen’s Ferry, was set up to help pilgrims to cross the Forth and visit these religious sites.


Scotland was faced with the growing influence of people and ideas from the south. Many Scots resented this and looked back to their Celtic roots.


In 1093, Malcolm and his eldest son, Edward, died fighting in Northumberland. A few days later, Margaret Atheling, Queen of Scots, died in the Castle of the Maidens (Edinburgh).


The Civil War


The first to claim the throne was Malcolm’s brother, Donald Ban. This was not unusual as many early Scottish kings were succeeded by their brothers. It was a return to the old Celtic ways.


Margaret died on 16 November 1093 in the castle, which was besieged by Donald Ban and his army. His main force was placed at the eastern gate of the castle. Margaret’s servants took her body out by a secret gate on the west side. However, it seems likely that the castle was surrendered to the new king in return for allowing the priest to remove Margaret’s body.


The English followers of Malcolm and Margaret were driven out of the country. Duncan, Malcolm’s son by his first wife, invaded Scotland with the support of William Rufus. His reign proved short and after he was killed Donald returned to the throne. Having lost one Scottish king, William Rufus then turned to Edgar, one of the sons of Malcolm and Margaret. Edgar then invaded Scotland and defeated Donald.


Although Edgar was now King of Scots, large parts of the country, particularly in the north and west, were only nominally under his authority. Edinburgh Castle was the centre of his power in the Lothians, with much of the land that is now part of the city providing food for the royal court when it visited the castle.


The Sons of Malcolm and Margaret


Edgar was the first of the three sons who were to reign over Scotland. Little is known of the reign of Edgar, but Edinburgh remained an important royal fortress. At that time, there was no particular royal centre. The king moved round the country with his court; the royal presence was the only way to ensure his control over the various districts. The royal court could not be supported by one place, so they would have to move on when supplies were exhausted. Edinburgh Castle was probably a great storehouse of food and timber (for fuel) acquired from the surrounding royal lands.


Alexander succeeded his brother as king. He founded the Abbey of Inchcolm on the island in the Forth. There are no records to show what lands were given to support the new abbey on this rocky island.


Alexander was in turn succeeded by his brother, David, who became one of the most influential Scottish kings. He had spent much time in England, where he was Earl of Huntingdon. David grew up with the Norman aristocracy of England and would have seen at first hand the growing influence of the new monasteries.


The Founding of the Royal Burgh


When did Edinburgh become a royal burgh? We do not know. We do not even know who granted the charter, but it must have been one of the sons of Malcolm and Margaret, sometime in the first quarter of the century. Certainly, by the time David I founded the Abbey of Holyrood (generally credited with being around 1128), it had royal burgh status. In fact, by this time it must have been a prosperous burgh with a slaughter business producing fat, tallow and hides. The abbey received a portion of the profits.


The original burgh was situated on the narrow ridge of land sloping down from Castle Rock. There can be no doubt that the proximity to the entrance of the castle enabled it to grow. The royal court frequently stayed here and that would have created a demand for goods and services. The burgh was in the heart of the prosperous agricultural land of the Lothians, and Edinburgh became the chief market centre.


The main difficulty facing the merchants of Edinburgh was the lack of a harbour. Goods could be transported by cart in a dry summer – otherwise everything went by packhorse. Wine would have had to be imported for the king and his court. Water was the only way to carry large quantities of goods over long distances, but the only available harbour was at the mouth of the Water of Leith.


The land round the estuary was probably divided between the Abbey of Holyrood, the estate of Restalrig and the king. As the kings’ tenants, the burgesses may have had the right to tie up ships along the Shore (the east bank of the river).


David I


David I was brought up in England among the Norman rulers. He was Earl of Huntingdon and brother to the English queen. He had many tenants who would look to him for support and rewards. When David returned to Scotland as king many of these followers came with him. Robert de Brus and Walter Fitz Alan (the Steward) were to produce descendants who would rule Scotland for over 400 years. The new king also owned Cumbria and the silver mines found there. This added to the country’s prosperity, and the king minted silver coins in Edinburgh.


The Abbey of Holyrood


The founding of the Abbey of Cluny in France at the beginning of the tenth century began the growth of a monastic movement in Western Europe. It became the custom for kings and wealthy noblemen to give land to the monasteries.


New orders, like the Cistercians and Carthusians, drew up strict rules, while other orders became more open and served at large in the community. The Augustine Canons of Holyrood were one of these.


The abbeys swallowed up large amounts of money and property in Scotland during the twelfth century and they also acquired churches. Holyrood was given St Cuthbert’s and its chapels of Corstorphine and Liberton. The parishioners were expected to contribute a tenth (called tiends) of their income to maintain their church and its priest. Much of the wealth was being transferred from the parishes to the monasteries, leading to the weakening of the Church’s work among the laity. For the king, it offered a supply of educated men who could attend to the business of government.


According to legend, David I set out on a hunting trip from the castle but in the confusion of the chase he became separated from his followers. Suddenly, a large stag with huge antlers appeared in his path. His horse reared up and the king was thrown to the ground. He naturally feared the worst as he stared up at those antlers. Then a bright light in the form of a cross shone between them. In a moment, the stag and the Holy Cross (Rood is another name for the Cross) had vanished. The king returned safely to Edinburgh and decided to found an abbey to give thanks for his rescue from the stag by the appearance of the Cross. Alwin, his chaplain, became the first abbot.


The Canongate


The charter which led to the foundation of the Abbey of Holyrood allowed the canons to establish a burgh. Soon afterwards, they set up a burgh between the abbey and the royal burgh of Edinburgh. The canons would have to pass through it on their way to the castle. The church of the castle, St Mary’s, belonged to the abbey and the inhabitants of this new burgh worshipped at the abbey church (the Canongate did not receive its own church until the late 1680s). They would also have had to have their grain ground in the canons’ mills. The burgesses of the Canongate were allowed to trade in the markets of Edinburgh as if they were burgesses of the royal burgh.


St Cuthbert’s


King David granted land to the Church of St Cuthbert, beneath the castle. From the description given in the charter, this appears to have covered the Grassmarket and the King’s Stables. The land bordered the King’s Garden, suggesting that David had a private garden on the north side of the rock. The church and its revenues had been given by the king to the Abbey of Holyrood.


The Forest of Drumsheugh


‘Royal Forest’ was a legal term and not a botanical one. The Norman kings of England had set aside large tracts of land as hunting preserves. The inhabitants of the forests were prohibited from taking any animals, but this could be hard when the odd rabbit might mean the difference between a good meal and starvation. Royal forests were not totally covered with trees and probably most of Drumsheugh consisted of scrubland. The Forest of Drumsheugh consisted of a large area of land stretching west from Arthur’s Seat through the Grange and Morningside.


Tofts and the King’s Officers


The burgh was divided into plots of land called ‘tofts’. In Edinburgh, these probably consisted of a piece of land bordering the High Street. A house would be constructed with a wooden frame and infilled with wattle and daub, and roofed with straw or even heather. The plot of land behind the house would be cultivated to provide a few vegetables and to keep animals. Some craftsmen might also have had workshops in the gardens. Bakers, for example, would need to keep their ovens away from the house in case sparks set off a fire.


In the royal burgh, the tofts were the property of the king. His official, called the sheriff, would be responsible for the collection of the rents. Much of this may have been paid in kind, rather than cash; the Sheriff of Edinburgh needed to ensure a plentiful store of goods to supply the royal court when it visited the burgh.


During the early years of his reign, David gave tofts to Dunfermline Priory and Holyrood Abbey. The founding charter for Holyrood was witnessed by ‘Norman the Sheriff’ – it seems probable that he was Sheriff of Edinburgh. Another royal official was the constable, who was responsible for the upkeep and defence of the castle – two charters issued by the king in Edinburgh were witnessed by ‘Edward the Constable’.


Arthur’s Seat and Dunedin


The origins of the name ‘Arthur’s Seat’ are unknown. Three charters, all issued in the reign of David I, refer to the area of Arthur’s Seat as ‘the Crag’. It is very unlikely that any British warlord of the early sixth century would have been fighting Angles in the Lothians, so the popular theory that it was named after the King Arthur of legend is improbable. The first recorded Anglian settlement did not occur in the north until the middle of the century and that was in Bamburgh. Mr Macnamara, a librarian at the King’s Inns in Dublin, translated Arthur’s Seat as:
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SIGH




	

AIT









	

Great, noble




	

fire




	

hill




	

charming









	

(or the ‘Fire Tabernacle of the Charming Hill’)













He also suggested ‘Dunedin’ as Dun (fort) and Eaden (cliff) – ‘fort on the cliff’. During the twelfth and thirteenth centuries, the castle was often referred to as the ‘Castle of the Maidens’.


One suggestion is that the summit of the crag was:




The spot most probably on which St Monenna in 7th or 8th centuries built one of her rock perched churches in honour of St Michael the Archangel and reared the walls of the primitive convent which may have given the place it’s most ancient name ‘the Castle of the Maidens’.





These are all interesting and, possibly informed, suggestions but are suppositions and not facts. It is unlikely we will ever know how Arthur’s Seat or the Castle of the Maidens acquired their names.


The Lands Bordering Edinburgh


In the twelfth century, Duddingston was known as ‘Treverlen’ and the land belonged to Uviet. He bequeathed the estate to Kelso Abbey. Now, two great abbeys – Holyrood and Kelso – held adjoining lands, and a dispute occurred between them over the boundary in the area of Arthur’s Seat. Henry, son of King David, drew up a document to settle the matter.


Such disputes were probably quite common. Holyrood was also in conflict with Newbattle Abbey over land close to Dalkeith and Malcolm IV (Henry’s son) confirmed Kelso Abbey’s right to the lands of Dodin, from which Duddingston appears to have acquired its name.


The countryside around Edinburgh was probably sparsely populated, with the people living in small hamlets called ‘tuns’. The Holyrood Charter gave property and rights to the abbey in Saughton, Broughton and Inverleith (North Leith). Mills using the power of the Water of Leith would have formed small settlements at the Dean Village and Canonmills. Corstorphine and Liberton had their own chapels and presumably large enough congregations to help finance them.


William the Lion, 1165–1214


Malcolm IV died in 1165 and was succeeded by his brother, William. He was to reign over Scotland longer than any other medieval king.


Edinburgh remained one of a number of places where the king would stay and carry out his royal government. The new king became embroiled in the struggles against Henry II of England which were led by the King of France and Henry’s own sons. William was captured by the English while on an expedition in Northumberland.


In 1174 the king was forced to hand over a group of castles, which included Edinburgh, to Henry II. An English garrison took over the castle and the Scots were removed. The main party to suffer, apart from the king himself, was Holyrood Abbey, as it would have had its revenues from the castle church (not St Margaret’s Chapel) curtailed. The king compensated them with money from the rents of mills in Cramond and Liberton and lands in Merchiston and Clermiston.


The English appointed ‘Alan from Richmond’ as constable of the castle. Money (£26 13s 4d) was spent on repairing the fortifications, and the constable was paid 50 marks for half a year. How much of this went into his own pocket and how much was spent on the garrison is not recorded. The castle was returned to the Scots in 1186.


Council of Holyrood


Shortly after the handing over of the castle to the English, the papal legate, Cardinal Vivian, arrived in Scotland with full authority from the Pope. During the twelfth and thirteenth centuries, papal power was at its height and even distant lands like Scotland were not immune to its influence. John of Fordun, writing 200 years later, must have based his facts on contemporary evidence for he even names the date – 1 August – when the council opened in Holyrood Abbey. The cardinal was described as ‘Crushing and trampling upon everything he came across, ready to clutch and not slow to snatch’ by John of Fordun in his Chronicle of the Scottish Nation.


The Burgh at the Time of William the Lion


Edinburgh was a royal burgh and the rents for the properties, known as tofts, were paid to the king. Responsibility for the collection of these dues belonged to the Sheriff of Edinburgh. The burgh had the right to hold a market, and goods sold in this market were subject to a tax payable to the king.


At this time, most of the buildings (called ‘lands’) would face the market place, which we know as the High Street today. Behind them would be long strips of enclosed land sloping down from the ridge into the valleys on the north and south sides of the burgh. Many of the inhabitants would keep livestock – cows for milk and cheese, hens for eggs, and pigs for meat. They would also grow vegetables such as kale (a type of cabbage), beans and peas. The land might also have been used by baxters (bakers) and brewers, who would want to keep ovens away from their homes. In one corner of the market place stood the burgh church, dedicated to St Giles. It would not have been such an imposing structure as the present-day St Giles.


The inhabitants of the burgh formed three distinctive groups. The most powerful of these were the merchants. They were wealthy men who ran their businesses but took no part in manual labour. Wool and hides (for leather) were medieval Scotland’s main exports. Some of this wool was spun and then woven into a cheap, coarse cloth. Spinners, weavers, waulkers (washers of the newly woven cloth) and dyers all played their part in the wool merchants’ trade. So, too, did the chapmen whose packhorses would transport the goods to distant outworkers. We do not know whether they had any formal part in the governing of the burgh at this time. A charter granted in Edinburgh was witnessed by two men, Richardo de Deuel and Godrido, who are described as ‘magistro’.


The second group of people were the craftsmen who had learnt the necessary skills to master the trade from their elders. They produced the goods for sale in the burgh and kept their trade secrets within a small group. The arrival of the king and the court at the castle would have been good for business. The only craftsman we know who worked in Edinburgh at this time was a goldsmith called Pagan. He obtained land on the north side of the Church of St Giles.


The third group, the unskilled workers and apprentices who were learning a trade, formed the bulk of the population of the burgh. They had no status in the burgh and could be a source of disorder, especially during festivals when they received time off from their work. Most of them would be tied to their employer and expected to live on his premises.


Beyond the Burgh


The lands beyond the burgh were owned by the three great powers of medieval Scotland – the king, the Church and the barons. Most of this last group had migrated via England from northern France.


Much of Duddingston had become the property of Kelso Abbey. The land was probably rented to tenant farmers, as they do not appear to have constructed any monastic buildings.


The high land at Lochend, dropping down into South Leith, formed the manor of the Lestalrig. Thomas de Lestalrig served as Sheriff of Edinburgh in the last years of William the Lion. The coast, in these times, followed the line of Commercial and St Bernard’s Streets and boats would either be pulled up upon or moored to the south bank of the Water of Leith, now known as ‘the Shore’. This may have been the property of the king.


North Leith, Newhaven, Broughton and the Canongate formed the large estate of Holyrood Abbey. They had their mills at Canonmills, while those of the burgh were further upstream in the Dean Gorge.


The lands around Granton had been granted by charter to the de Melville family.


The land at the western edge of the modern city was probably royal domain. William granted rents from his mill at Cramond and lands in Clermiston to Holyrood in compensation for the loss of the chapel in the castle.


The west of the city was dominated by two large bodies of water – Gogar Loch and Corstorphine Loch. Gogar was one of the manors held by Ralph of Graham, while Saughton had been granted to Holyrood in the founding charter.


Much of the area to the south of the burgh was covered by the Royal Hunting Forest of Drumsheugh. Some of it must have been given to the burgh as grazing land for their cattle, thus forming the district of Boroughmuir. The king also retained land in Merchiston.


The lands of Braid appear to have acquired their name from Henry de Brade, who was Sheriff of Edinburgh around the year 1200. Further south, the king’s brother (David, Earl of Lennox) held Morton (probably Mortonhall), while the Melvilles of Granton, together with Holyrood Abbey, were the main landowners at Liberton. Randolf de Soulis possessed land in Gilmerton, some of which he gave to Kelso Abbey, while the estates of Cousland and Pentland belonged to the Graham family, who also held land in Gogar.


The Thirteenth Century


The thirteenth century was a time of rapid growth in some parts of Europe. The climate appears to have been very favourable to agriculture and the opening of silver mines in central Europe led to an increase in silver coinage. By the middle of the century, Edinburgh merchants would have possessed silver pennies minted in Scotland.


Italy and Flanders became great manufacturing and trading centres, and during this century Berwick was Scotland’s most important port, no doubt exporting wool clipped from Border sheep. Cross-border relations were generally peaceable, in contrast to those in the following century.


It is probable that this century saw the development of three new suburbs. The Lawnmarket (Land Mercat) lay close to the west gate, which turned south down the Bow, and the gate leading to the castle also lay close by. To the south, the Cowgate and the Grassmarket provided extra space for the inhabitants between the burgh and the Burgh Loch situated in the Meadows.


King Alexander II


William the Lion’s son, Alexander, became king in 1214 and the first years of the new king’s reign saw him in conflict with the Church. Alexander had joined Louis IX of France and a number of rebellious English barons who were challenging the authority of the guardians of Henry III. The Pope considered himself the protector of the young English king and in 1216 Alexander was excommunicated and Scotland placed under an interdict. This should have meant that for the citizens of Edinburgh there would have been no Communion, no baptisms, no marriages and no funerals. However, it appears that the interdict was not published in Scotland until sometime later. This probably only aggravated the relationship between the Scottish Church and the papal legate, who sent his ambassadors north to receive the submission of the Scots.


The Black Friary


The first two orders of friars were given papal sanction at the beginning of the thirteenth century: the followers of St Francis became known as the Grey Friars, from their grey habits, and the followers of St Dominic were a teaching order who wore black. The Black Friars established a large friary on the south side of the Cowgate during the reign of Alexander II (probably in the 1230s). There is still in Edinburgh today a wynd leading down from the High Street to the Cowgate called Blackfriars Street. The friary was destroyed in the years of the Reformation.


Alexander III


Alexander II died in 1249, leaving his 8-year-old son as his only heir. The young king was quickly crowned at Scone and a power struggle began between Alan Durward, the Justiciar of Scotland, and Walter Comyn, Earl of Menteith. The earl and his supporters took control of the young king and his queen (a daughter of Henry III of England), keeping them in Edinburgh Castle.


Cardinal Bagimond


In 1274, Cardinal Bagimond arrived in Scotland to assess the various parishes and monasteries for a papal tax. The roll, drawn up by the papal envoy, provides us with a list of the parishes in Edinburgh during the second half of the thirteenth century:








	

St Giles of Edinburgh




	

Keldeleth (Currie)




	

Gogar









	

St Cuthbert’s under the Castle




	

Hailes (Colinton)




	

Ratho









	

Duddingston




	

Lastelric (Restalrig)




	

 













The parish of Cramond is not mentioned in the roll and, at that time, must have formed part of Gogar. The Church of St Mary’s in the Castle and the chapels at Corstorphine and Liberton must have been assessed as part of the Abbey of Holyrood. The priests in these parishes were expected to pay a few marks, but the abbey was assessed at the huge sum of £42.


The Death of Alexander III


Alexander III died in 1286, to be succeeded by his granddaughter, Margaret, who was the daughter of King Eric II of Norway. She was the last direct descendent of William the Lion. Her death in 1290 led to a dispute over the Scottish throne. This in turn led to wars between England and Scotland as the English kings tried to gain control of much of the country. Within these struggles were two civil wars between the Bruces and the Balliols. It would be a long time before peace returned to Scotland.




[image: Image]


EDINBURGH IN THE YEARS 1296–1399


The Wars of Independence


Edward I invaded Scotland in 1296. Berwick was taken and, after a week’s siege, Edinburgh Castle also fell to the English. Walter de Huntercombe was appointed constable of the castle and Sheriff of Edinburgh. The leading men of the country were then summoned to take an oath of allegiance to the King of England.


William de Dederyk, described as burgess and alderman (provost), travelled to Berwick with James of Edinburgh, Walter Fitz Martin, Walter le Arblaster, Henry le Scot, William of Leicester, John Hog, William le Taillout, Walter of Rypon, Waldof de la Roche, Richard Fritz Wawter of Edinburgh and John Wyggemore. They took the oath for themselves and on behalf of the community of the burgh. This became known as the Ragman Roll – a list of all who gave their support to Edward I. These were the men who formed the first burgh council of which we have any record. Sadly, they are only names, but the mention of Leicester and Rypon (probably Ripon) gives the council wider connections than might be supposed for the end of the thirteenth century.


In November 1298, John de Kingeston was appointed constable of the castle and Sheriff of Edinburgh by Edward I. One of his first acts was to take the oath of allegiance from the canons of Holyrood Abbey. The sheriff took with him a Carmelite friar called William and they were received by Abbot Adam. The abbot and then William, the former abbot, both took the oath. They were followed by John, the prior, and Thomas, the sub-prior. The rest of the canons followed, including the precentor, the sacrist, the cellarer and the almoner.


By 1300, John de Kingeston had a force of 347 soldiers as well as 156 horses. The castle housed a considerable staff to support this garrison, including an engineer called Master Thomas. There were two brewers (it was safer to drink the ale than the water), two maltsters to look after the drink and a baker to look after the food. Other technical staff included two carpenters and two smiths.


Transport was provided by two carters, a water carrier and a sea coal carrier. Presumably they would bring supplies from the Port of Leith to the castle. The coal would have been used to heat the castle and provide fuel for the kitchens. The castle even had its own harper.


However, by the end of 1302 John de Kingeston was left with only thirty men and their officers. This was hardly a sufficient force to control the burgh, let alone the surrounding lands. It is, however, a reflection of the financial realities of a medieval state which had no organised way of raising money from a reluctant population. Armies were raised from those who owed military service, and these men served for a limited time before returning to their farms. A castle garrison would have needed professional soldiers who had to be paid.


Life in the Burgh in the Fourteenth Century


We know very little about life in the burgh at this time. The town and the castle were occupied by the English during the years 1296–1314 and 1335–41. Edinburgh was burnt in 1385 by the army of Richard II. Add to that the plagues of 1349 and 1362 and it is a wonder that the burgh survived. Yet it not only survived but prospered. Edinburgh merchants grew wealthy exporting wool and hides. Nothing is known of the craftsmen but the restrictions put on their attempts to organise during the first half of the next century suggest that they had little influence on the affairs of the burgh. However, their products must have played a part in the growing economy of the town.


The burgh was expanding beyond its walls. The Netherbow formed the entrance from the Canongate and the beginning of the road to Leith. The Bow was the gateway to the south and west as well as to the Burgh Loch. The Cowgate and Grassmarket were now lined with buildings.


The houses of the burgh were probably timber framed with infills of wattle and daub. Roofs thatched with straw or reeds covered them. They were easy to destroy, but also easy to rebuild. Behind each house would be an area of ground in which the householder would keep a few animals and hens. Vegetables like beans and kale (a type of cabbage) might be grown. The houses became known as ‘lands’ and the area behind as the ‘enclosure’. Sometimes a small lane ran alongside the house leading into the enclosure. These lanes were to form the ‘closes’ and ‘wynds’ of the burgh. The enclosure behind the house would be used for business.


Merchants would have warehouses to store fleeces and hides. Craftsmen might keep some of their workshops away from their house; for instance, baxters (bakers) needed to have their ovens well away from the house for fear of fire. Chapmen (packhorse men who transported goods on roads which were unfit for horse and cart) would need stables and stores of fodder.


A poorer climate led people to give up farming arable areas on higher ground, and farms in the nearby Lammermuirs were abandoned. Scottish agriculture was dominated by oats and barley, and porridge, gruel and oatcakes formed the staple diet. Kale, fish, eggs and cheese would be brought in from the local area and sold in the markets along the High Street. Some meat, mainly mutton and offal, was eaten by the ordinary inhabitants of the burgh, and some householders kept pigs and chickens in the yards behind their houses.


The Lawnmarket, or ‘Land Mercat’, was where goods produced on local farms were sold. Traders would have their goods weighed at a ‘tron’ (weighhouse) and pay a toll before offering them for sale in the burgh market. The town houses of Scottish burghs were called ‘tolbooths’ because one of their early functions was as a place where traders paid their tolls


During this period the old burgh, excluding the Cowgate and Grassmarket, may have been surrounded by a stone wall. An excavation in 1833 revealed two walls, and outside the earlier of these was a cemetery.


The Years 1310–14


The second decade of the century began with a serious famine. The Scottish chronicler John of Fordun claims that people were reduced to eating horses and ‘unclean cattle’ – these were probably animals that had died from various natural causes. The citizens of the burgh would have suffered as severely as the rest of the community. The famine was not only confined to Scotland, one historian believed that ‘for England this was the worst famine in recorded history’.


The English, with their headquarters in the castle, still controlled the burgh and the expense of keeping a large force in Scotland must have weakened the position of the English king. In the first nine months of 1311 the garrisons of the ten castles in central and southern Scotland were costing Edward II over £1,800. Leith was also important for the occupiers. Wheat, malt, barley, meal and canvas sacks were all shipped in to the port for the use of the garrison in the castle.


However, the English hold on Edinburgh was under threat. Local nobles were deserting Edward II as Robert Bruce’s power grew. In March 1314 Thomas Randolf, Earl of Moray, led a surprise attack at night. Using ladders, the Scots climbed up the north side of the rock and took the castle. If you stand on Princes’ Street and look across at the castle, you can see how difficult it would have been to get fully armed men up the rock and over the defences. The Scots had no heavy siege machines, so all recaptured castles were destroyed to prevent them being used by the English or any other enemy. The churches – St Mary’s in the Castle and St Margaret’s Chapel – appear to have been left untouched.


The End of the War


Bannockburn, fought in June 1314, was not the end of the war. The Scots launched attacks into northern England and across the sea to Ireland. Edward II was finally murdered by a group of nobles and peace was agreed. However, the opponents of Bruce, led by Edward Balliol, remained unhappy with the situation.


The Charter of Robert the Bruce, 1329




… by this our present charter confirmed to the Burgesses of our Burgh of Edinburgh our foresaid Burgh of Edinburgh together with the Port of Leith, mills and others their pertinents.


…pertained to the said Burgh in the time of Alexander.





This is not a new grant of lands and rights but a confirmation that the burgh possessed such in the time of Alexander III. At about the same time as this one, Bruce issued another charter confirming the possessions of the Abbey of Holyrood, as granted by David I; William the Lion had also given the abbey a similar confirmation charter. Thus, at least by the late thirteenth century, Edinburgh had control over parts of the Port of Leith. Which parts of Leith were possessed by the burgh is unclear, but it must have been on or near the Shore (the south bank of the Water of Leith, close to its mouth). Leith was very important to the merchants who ruled the burgh, since it gave them a port through which they could export their wool and hides; imports would have included wine, quality cloth and pottery.


The king, the burgh and the two estates of Restalrig and Holyrood Abbey had claims to sections of Leith. The charter is part of a longer story in which the merchant elite who controlled Edinburgh took power over Leith. Independent trading in Leith, or by the inhabitants of Leith, was vigorously put down. Only the captains, referred to as ‘skippers’, appear to have been accepted and allowed to carry on their trade without too much interference from the merchants of Edinburgh.


The charter also tells us that Edinburgh had its own mills. These mills were most probably situated in the present Dean Village. This, in earlier times, was called the Village of the Water of Leith. Since ‘mills’ is plural, there must have been a group of mills sharing a dam and a lade.


The charter does not go into details about other rights or marches. This must surely mean that to the king and the burgesses these were so well known and accepted by all that detail was unnecessary. Other properties would have included the Burgh Loch and the Burgh Muir.


The burgh had the right to hold a fair for eight days at the beginning of November. The fair would attract traders and visitors bringing money into the burgh. For all this, the burgh had to pay 52 marks annually – half was due at Whitsunday and the other half on Martinmas, 11 November (the medieval calendar was run on religious lines).


Edinburgh in the 1340s


John Wiggmer is recorded as Provost of Edinburgh in both 1344 and 1348. The loss of Berwick and the decline of Roxburgh left the Borders without a dynamic royal burgh and opportunities that had once been open to the merchants of Berwick now fell into the hands of the merchant elite who ruled Edinburgh. By the end of the century, Edinburgh was paying more customs for the export of wool and hides than the two next largest exporters (Perth and Dundee) put together.


Much of the wool and hides shipped abroad went to Flanders (modern Belgium). Scottish merchants based themselves in the Low Countries so they could trade with the local merchants, and special privileges were granted to these merchants to encourage this profitable trade. This was called the ‘Staple’. In 1347 the Staple was situated in the town of Middleburg in Zealand, near the mouth of the Rhine. Scottish merchants were allowed to run their own affairs under the Conservator of the Staple. The following year they were negotiating with Bruges for privileges there.


The Recapture of the Castle, 1341


The English, supposedly in support of Balliol, recaptured the castle in 1341. The plan to retake it seems to have been hatched in Dundee. There, Sir William Douglas, William Bullock and William Fraser met Walter Curry, who had a ship in the port. They loaded the ship with 200 men, sailed for the Forth and put into the island of Inchkeith.


Walter Curry, in the guise of a merchant from Elie, visited the captain of the castle. He claimed to have a cargo of grain, beer and good wine which he wanted to sell to the garrison. Curry’s servant brought in two skins containing wine and beer. Curry promised to return with a cask of wine, a cask of beer and two baskets of spiced biscuits. In return for this handsome bribe, the captain was to encourage the garrison to buy the rest of Curry’s cargo. He must have gone to bed a happy man with such a good deal.


The Scots returned the next morning – twelve of them, all wearing armour underneath their cloaks. The three sentries had their throats cut. They drove a large stake in the gateway to prevent the portcullis being lowered, a trumpet was blown as a signal and Douglas led his men into the castle. The English offered resistance, but were unable to hold off the Scots and the castle was captured. Walter Bower, Abbot of Inchcolm and author of the Scottichronicon, commented, ‘The burgesses rejoiced and returned to their allegiance to the king.’ It would appear that the town had supported the English while there was a threat from the castle.


The Black Death


The Black Death arrived in Scotland in 1350. It was not known as the Black Death to contemporary chroniclers, however. John of Fordun, who died sometime in the 1380s, refers to it as ‘a pestilence and plague among men’.


It is generally believed that the plague spread from central Asia. Fleas living mainly upon rats brought it along the trade routes from the East. Death rates were high. Even Fordun claims it killed one-third of the population. He does, however, point out that it was mainly ‘the meaner sort and common people who suffered most’.


We have no idea how the burgh fared during this major disaster. Certainly the workforce would have been considerably reduced, leading to a drop in production. Yet by 1370 Scotland was exporting more wool and hides than at any time during the Middle Ages.


Edinburgh after 1350


In 1355 the Scots attacked Berwick and recaptured the town. The following year, Edward III marched north into Lothian. Edinburgh was set on fire, but again the shortage of food forced the English to retreat. They were now fighting not only in Scotland but also in France. However, an overwhelming victory at Portiers destroyed the French army and left the French king a prisoner of the English.


If matters were not bad enough, the plague returned in 1362 and the king and his nobles retired north to try to escape its effects. This appears to have been a repeat of the previous outbreak. Yet this does not give a true picture of life in the burgh at this time. Exports of wool and hides reached a peak in the early 1370s. Such trade brought considerable wealth to the merchant burgesses who ruled Edinburgh. Adam Forrester, who was provost in 1373, made enough money to purchase estates in Corstorphine and Nether Liberton. He was also Sheriff of Edinburgh in 1382. The family began the move from merchant burgess to landed gentry and then finally to government service.


Fish, packed in barrels of salt, were also an important export. Some of it would have passed through Leith. Edinburgh’s port was now the only major outlet for exports in the south-east of Scotland.


A New Tron


In 1364, David II gave a piece of land measuring 100ft by 32ft to build a new ‘tron’. Since it is described as ‘on the west part of the old tron’, it must have replaced that building.


Trons were weighhouses where goods being brought into the burgh’s markets were first weighed and assessed for duty. This tron was built near the road leading to the castle. It was probably built at the top of the Bow, one of the main entrances into the town. No doubt this building was destroyed and rebuilt a number of times.


In 1458 Margaret Bertram received the tenancy of the ‘Butter Tron’ for £4 6s. As late as 1745 a tron stood at the top of the Bow. Bonnie Prince Charlie’s troops used it as a guardhouse from which to watch the castle.


A Fair at Newbattle


This was the age of monopolies, and no one protected their rights more fiercely than the burgesses of Edinburgh. Trading was the special privilege of the burgh which, in return, paid their customs to the king.


A fair was set up illegally at Newbattle and this threatened to take trade away from the burgh. David II, then in Perth, wrote to the Sheriff of Edinburgh who, at that time, was Simon Preston. (His family were soon to acquire the castle and lands of Craigmillar.) Anyone caught ‘buying or selling in that place or keeping any market there’ was to be immediately arrested and held in custody in Edinburgh Castle. All goods found in the market were to be confiscated and become the property of the king. So, the king was no loser by this act, protecting his own burgh and gaining from anything the sheriff found.


The Rebuilding of Edinburgh Castle


In 1367, David II began a complete rebuilding of the castle’s eastward defences. The rock provides sheer drops to the north, west and south. Only on the east side, where the burgh stood, could the castle be easily approached. To protect this, a huge L-shaped tower was constructed on the site of what is now the Half Moon Battery (in fact, the foundations of this tower are still under the battery). The tower covered the southern part of the eastern wall as well as providing apartments for the king.


David died in the castle in 1371 before he could finish the tower, which later became known as David’s Tower. The king was buried in Holyrood Abbey in front of the High Altar. He was succeeded by his nephew, Robert II, the first of the Stewart kings.


A second, smaller tower was built to the north of David’s Tower. This was called Constable’s Tower and it was the home of the constable of the castle and guarded the entrance to the castle. A gate and a drawbridge added to the strength of this royal fortress.


The Port of Leith


The Black Death was followed by an economic boom. In 1332, the customs levied on wool and hides exported from Leith raised a little under £43. By 1379, these duties brought the king £2,420. Nineteen years later, forty-six ships left Leith, paying customs of over £2,000. Much of the foreign trade was still with the Low Countries where the strong cloth-making industry fuelled demand for wool.


In 1382 the last of the Restalrigs died. Their estate was one of the largest in the Edinburgh district; it included not only Restalrig but also most of South Leith. For over 200 years it had belonged to the family, but now it passed by marriage to the Logans.


Edinburgh in the 1380s


The Scots supported the French in their struggles with the English, and this led to several invasions of Scotland by Richard II’s troops in retaliation. The one safe place in Lothian was the newly fortified Edinburgh Castle, so Robert II, the first Stewart King of Scots, granted a piece of land 8ft square within the castle to the Abbot of Holyrood for the use of himself and his canons. The canons, who also served the Church of St Mary’s in the Castle, could live there in safety from any impending English attack. This grant was followed by a second one giving the burgesses of Edinburgh the right to build within the castle. They would be able to take themselves and their valuables into the fortress away from the invading English army.


Things looked brighter for the Scots in the summer of 1385. A strong French force of some 2,000 men landed at Dunbar and Leith. The French admiral, Sir John de Vienne, joined the Scottish nobles in Edinburgh. He also brought armour, weapons and 50,000 gold francs.


Sadly, even this force was not strong enough to stop the next English invasion and a retreat into the heart of Scotland began. Anything that could be used by the enemy was destroyed; cattle were no doubt driven into hiding places. The English marched into Edinburgh and set fire to the burgh. Even the Kirk (Church) of St Giles was burnt. Most of the citizens, knowing what was to come, had probably taken refuge in the castle or fled to the safety of remote areas like the Pentland Hills. Holyrood Abbey was spared by the intervention of John of Gaunt.


Since there was little left, the English were forced to withdraw, leaving the burgesses, yet again, to rebuild their town.


The Charter of Robert II, 1386


The king gave a grant of land on the north side of the street in the market place. It was 60ft by 30ft. The burgh was given the right to put up houses or buildings ‘for the ornament of the said burgh and their necessary uses’. The charter does not tell us to what purpose the burgh authorities put this land. It has been assumed that the land was used to build the Tolbooth, and since it was a grant for the use of the community the assumption does not seem unreasonable. However, the Old Tolbooth was situated on the south side, not the north side of the High Street.


St Giles, 1387


The rebuilding of the burgh began soon after the retreat of Richard II and, as religion was very much the centre of life in a medieval burgh, priority was given to the parish church of St Giles. Only the four large central pillars remain from the mid-fourteenth century; the rest must have either been destroyed in the fire or been removed to make way for the new kirk.


Adam Forrester, one of the richest burgesses and the laird of Nether Liberton, together with Provost Andrew Yutson, employed some masons to build five chapels. Each of the first four chapels was to have its own window. The fifth chapel was built by the west door. The rebuilding probably began in the following year.


The five chapels were just the beginning and the new St Giles was to be developed constantly over the next 100 years. More and more patrons wished to support chapels and altars in the kirk, and private masses and prayers for the souls of the patrons were becoming an important part of religious life. Over the next century, the number of altars grew rapidly. They were supported by the rich merchants of the burgh and later by the craft guilds.


The Knighting of the Duke of Rothsay


Robert II died in 1390, to be succeeded by his eldest son, Robert III. The new king had two sons. The elder was called David and he took the title of Duke of Rothsay. His younger brother was the future James I. According to Bower, the knighting took place ‘close to the north side of the town of Edinburgh where there is now a loch’. This is the area which is now occupied by Princes’ Street Gardens. It would appear that this ground might have been a traditional place to hold tournaments.


The event took place in 1398. Abbot Bower died in 1449, and sometime between these dates a dam was built to control the little burn running from a spring near the castle. This dam created the Nor’ (North) Loch. It was considered to provide a defence for the north side of the burgh.


The Charter of Leith, 1398


Growing international trade required an expansion of the port facilities in Leith. South Leith was part of the estate of Restalrig, which was owned by Sir Robert Logan in 1398. He probably lacked the resources to develop the port and so granted rights to the burgesses. They were permitted to enlarge the port facilities – possibly along the Shore – and boats were now allowed to tie up along the Restalrig Shore.


The medieval coastline ran along the present St Bernard and Commercial streets (the modern docks stand on land reclaimed from the sea). The merchants were given the right to build a bridge linking North and South Leith. They were also given free passage to take themselves and their goods through the barony of Restalrig. The charter does not say how Sir Robert Logan benefitted from this.
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EDINBURGH DURING THE FIFTEENTH CENTURY


This century saw the rebuilding of the burgh after the destruction by the English in 1385. Although there was a general economic decline all over northern Europe, Edinburgh suffered less as it gained a larger share of Scotland’s trade. Throughout the century, St Giles was extended, becoming a collegiate church.


It seems probable that the Old Tolbooth was built on land granted to the burgh by King Robert II. The burgh was situated on a ridge which fell away steeply to the north and south. Thus, no back roads developed parallel to the High Street. Some of the wynds which led down to the Cowgate had already acquired their names: Friars’ Wynd (Blackfriars) was the road down to the Dominican Friary; there was St Mary’s Wynd, Niddri Wynd, Peebles’ Wynd and Liberton Wynd; Forrester Wynd may have been the site of the town house of the Forresters of Corstorphine. Most of the markets were held in either the High Street or the Lawnmarket.


Standing on the High Street, looking down George IV Bridge towards Greyfriars, it is hard to believe there is a steep valley between the two sites. Pass down Victoria Street and the Bow, cross the Grassmarket and climb up Candlemakers’ Row, for only then can you get the feeling of how the land lay in the fifteenth century. By this time, the Cowgate and Grassmarket were built up and new developments were taking place to the south. The Franciscans began the building of their friary in 1460.


Beyond these new lands was the Burgh Loch which covered part of the land now known as the Meadows. Further south again was the Burgh Muir, which was a mixture of undeveloped forest and scrubland. On the north side of the burgh, sometime in the first half of the century a dam had been built to create the Nor’ (North) Loch. This was to remain as the boundary of the city until the middle of the eighteenth century.


Danger from the English at the Beginning of the Fifteenth Century


Relations with England remained uncertain in the fifteenth century, leaving Edinburgh merchants at the mercy of English pirates. Even James I, on his journey to France in 1406, was captured by them off Flamborough Head, and three years later, Sir Robert Umfraville launched a raid in retaliation after Scottish pirates had taken English ships. He captured thirteen ships in the Forth. If these were seagoing vessels rather than coastal traders, the Firth must have been a busy place.


Leith was the chief port from which long-distance trading voyages were begun. By 1421 the English raids had become so bad that the monks of Inchcolm spent the summer on the mainland. Only when the winter storms drove the ships to port did they venture to return to the island.


The English were not the only danger facing the merchant exporters of Edinburgh. Storms could easily take control of the small trading vessels used in the early fifteenth century. The monks of Inchcolm lost three men while returning across the Firth to the abbey, and a Lombardy carrick, presumably making for Leith, was driven onto the shore near Granton – this is the first account that we have of merchants from northern Italy, then one of the most prosperous parts of Western Europe, trading directly with Edinburgh.


Acts of the Scottish Parliament in the 1430s


James I was concerned with his subjects’ spending on clothes and drink. This did not, of course, lead to the king curtailing his expenditure. He used Parliament to bring in various restrictions on the lives of the less wealthy of his subjects; in Edinburgh, only members of the burgh council were allowed to wear fur, for instance. The king also banned our national sport – football! – while archery was to be encouraged because it produced trained men for military service.


Every man in the burgh was expected to join the army when they were summoned, although few had much training or proper weapons. However, we must remember that the king had no police to enforce his wishes and was dependent on the support of the local nobles, lairds and burgh councils.


Capital of Scotland


The term ‘capital’ means the seat of government. No Scottish king ever remained for long in one burgh or castle, and although government moved with the king some business needed to be conducted in one place.


The King’s Chapel, or Chancery, drew up the documents required by the king. These may have been charters granting land and privileges, or orders given to some royal official. Possibly some of this work was done in Edinburgh Castle.


Parliaments met in many places over the years, although they were usually held in Perth, Stirling or Scone. Surprisingly, Parliament had only met in Edinburgh once, in 1328 when it confirmed the Treaty of Northampton. Parliament had been held at Holyrood in 1334 under Edward Balliol, and again in 1389. After the murder of James I, Parliament met in Perth but was then moved to Edinburgh. The king was normally crowned at Scone, just outside Perth, but the coronation of James II took place in Holyrood Abbey.


From then onwards, Parliament was to be held in the burgh – except for three parliaments held in Stirling during the 1350s – presumably because castles offered security in an age of uncertainty. We cannot be sure where these subsequent parliaments were actually held, and numbers attending were not large. For example, the Parliament of 1479 was made up of eighty-nine representatives of the clergy, the nobility and the burghs – this was considered a large meeting.


Edinburgh Castle in the Fifteenth Century


Throughout the fifteenth century, the castle remained a royal residence and an important centre of royal administration. The king, when he stayed in Edinburgh, lived in David’s Tower (the remains of which lie beneath the Half Moon Battery), while the constable or keeper of the castle occupied Constable’s Tower. James I added to David’s Tower by building the Great Chamber. This is now referred to as ‘the palace’ and contains the Scottish crown jewels as well as the Stone of Destiny.


James II


At this time, Edinburgh was controlled by Sir William Crichton, who had been made keeper of the castle and Sheriff of Edinburgh by James I. After the coronation, Crichton took the new king into his care in the castle. In 1439 he became chancellor. That year, the Earl of Douglas died of the plague, leaving two sons, William and David.


In November 1440, young Earl William and his brother were invited to dine with the young king in Edinburgh Castle. The two brothers and their advisor, Sir Malcolm Fleming, foolishly accepted the invitation. During the dinner, Crichton placed a black bull’s head on the table – a sign of impending death. The brothers were given a brief trial and then executed on Castlehill. This event became known as the ‘Black Dinner’. In 1442 the burgh closed its gates and set up a night watch of six men.


James II was very interested in new guns – too interested! – the king was killed when one of his own guns blew up at the siege of Roxburgh. His wife’s uncle, Phillip the Good, Duke of Burgundy, had sent him two large siege guns. One of these, Mons Meg, can still be seen in the castle. By the end of the century the castle had a gunhouse for the building and storage of these larger weapons which were changing the face of warfare. Castles were no longer just safe places of refuge for powerful nobles.


In the later part of the century vaults were built to raise the southern side of the castle and it was upon these that the Great Hall was eventually built by James IV.


The Rebellion of 1482–83


The castle was also a royal prison. In 1479, the Duke of Albany, James III’s brother, was held in the castle, but escaped by killing his guards and lowering himself down the rock using a rope. Four years later, James III himself was held as a prisoner in the castle.


James III was taken prisoner by a group of nobles; the king’s uncles, the Earl of Atholl, the Earl of Buchan and the Bishop of Moray, were behind the plot. Atholl was the constable of the castle and thus held the king. Events leading to the release of the king are shrouded in mystery. What we do know is that the Duke of Albany and the burgesses of Edinburgh all played their part. James was eventually freed from his captivity in the castle. As a reward for their help, the Provost of Edinburgh and his successors became Sheriff of Edinburgh. The bailies were then sheriff’s deputies. The council now not only controlled the burgh but they were also the magistrates enforcing the law. The burgh also received a banner, known afterwards as the Blue Blanket.


James III was injured at the Battle of Sauchieburn. His supporters took him to an old mill before summoning a man dressed as a priest. This ‘priest’ murdered the king. After James III’s death, James IV and his supporters searched the castle looking for his father’s treasury.


The Defences of the Burgh


The valley to the north of the burgh (now Princes’ Street Gardens) was open land and may have been an area used to hold tournaments and other military sports. Sometime before 1450, the stream flowing from a spring beneath the castle was dammed to form the North Loch. The Burgh Loch, situated in the present Meadows, was the South Loch. This new loch was designed to offer a defensive barrier against a possible attack from the north.


The original boundary to the south of the burgh was at the back of the yards of the houses lining the High Street. An excavation took place before the new Meal Market was built in 1832. It led to the discovery of two stone walls. The outer one was built over a cemetery, from which the excavators removed six skulls. The second wall was probably built at the time the North Loch was created, during the middle of the century, and the earlier wall may date from the time of David II. It ran across the slope between the High Street and the Cowgate. The southern gate into the burgh was in the Bow. However, by 1450 this defensive line was redundant. The town had grown beyond here long ago. The town council may have decided, under pressure from the king, to take the cheaper option and reinforce the existing town wall.


Plagues in Fifteenth-Century Edinburgh


At various times Edinburgh and Leith suffered from plagues, which were referred to as ‘the pest’. Plagues occurred at the beginning of the century and twice in the 1430s. This seems to have been a lean time, with severe weather to add to the difficulty. Even the Earl of Douglas died of the pest in 1439.


In March 1499 villages on the south side – Currie, Swanston and Hailes (Colinton) – as well as on the north at Cramond, were ‘infected with a contagious infirmity of pestilence’. People from these areas were not allowed into the town. By the end of the year all visitors to the burgh had to report to the bailies first. Later the next year, four brave men – Will Rae, George Stewart, James Galloway and Alexander Stobo – were paid 12d a day to clean the goods and houses of all those affected by the pest.


Strict rules were made that all must report an outbreak of the infection and washing was to be carried out, not in the lochs, but in running water. The Water of Leith and the Powburn (on the Burgh Muir) were generally used. However, the outbreak continued into the next century.


What caused the plagues? Was the same organism responsible each time? The answer to these questions is that we do not know and possibly never will. They were considered to be very contagious and the victims were isolated. Travel restrictions were placed on people, especially those arriving in the Port of Leith from more distant parts where the pest might have broken out.
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